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The lecture tries to get closer to the very complex questioning on LIGHT & POWER during the first half of the 20th Century.

This is an extremely multidimensional topic which I can only approach approximately, not being able to heed all flows and developments of the period, nor being able to fullfill all expectations since my topic "The lighting of Poznan Castle" already sets narrow limits.
 

To begin with, some general sentences on Posen (Poznan) and the Castle:  After the second Polish division of 1793, the Prussian State had included the Posen Dukedom with its capital still belonging to Greater Poland.

After the “Wiener Kongreß” (Congress of Vienna), it became the Province of Posen. So as to show full presence in this province and to demonstrate imperial power, Emperor Wilhelm II had the castle built by Franz Heinrich Schwechten (1841 - 1924) between 1905 and 1910. Built as "Kaiserpfalz", symbol of the Germans in the East, as a true fortress ("Trutzburg").

It is also known as the "absurdity of a monarch in stone". For the first time, a building for which the use of electricity was included in the planning already, existed. This did not only have great influence in the quality of light, but also in the design of the lamps and chandeliers, being and important part of the iconographic programme developed for the Castle.

Had it other where been the rococo chandeliers of Friedrich II of Prussia (1712 - 1786), which - as those in the New Palace, Potsdam - had also been electrified as to the orders of Wilhelm IInd, now it has become the work of contemporary artists; most of them professors of the Educational Department of the Berlin Museum of Applied Arts (today: University of the Arts, Berlin) who had to make the ideas of Emperor Wilhelm II come true. 

As with other buildings, he ignored the artistic and fashionable development of his period and held on to historic examples, solely chosen as to their symbolic values. This way, Wilhelm IInd wished to support the arts and crafts as to his own taste, in this case especially the Educational Department of the Museum of Applied Arts, that had been founded in 1868.

Following the example of Frederick II (reign 1740 - 1786), he put his stress on sponsoring metal techniques, so as to become independent of France, as well as to enhance rightful aesthetics for the new techniques brought out in large quantity by that time.

Light and bearings of light have always been an appropriate vehicle for presenting pure power due to their quality as symbols of preciousness and also of their functions of just lighting or of enlightenment.

Light and power go together inseparably; "Light becomes Power". The methods of making this visible are omnipotent. Not only with the amount of light output, special effects were now to be gained. We remember the fireworks and illuminations. Long before the 17th and 18th Century, following the original ceremonial fires of rejoicing, they were an established part of any culture of festivity at any Court.

Following the victory of electric lighting, unforeseen possibilities opened up, now exploited by those in power. We here must remember the fleet parades of Wilhelm IInd in Kiel, or the domes of light of Albert Speer. That was the international fashion of the years, no difference whether Washington, Paris or Copenhagen, even though the fascist light architecture seemed particularly brutal. 

In closed rooms it became the design of the chandeliers and of other light sources or the choice of material showing off power and wealth and later, especially at the beginning of the 20th Century, the most modern choice of lamps.
That applied for the power-obsessed personality of Wilhelm IInd before all. Through electricity, the gloriousness under this emperor at the very end of the monarchy in 1918 was once more be taken to a peak. Even if he used the symbols of power of his predecessors in those castles he actually inhabited; in Posen he could now bring in new creations, that would put the stage he created for himself and for his realm’s representation sufficiently into the right light. As well, his policy of Germanization could be put to a new level. 
Here also he used Romanesque and Gothic-Nordic-Germanic and Christian symbols, so as to remind us of the annual Northland Voyages, manifesting his demand of inheritance of rights for the Holy Roman Empire of German Nation.

A contemporary newspaper report on the Imperial Castle of Posen phrases this mixture of styles (today ironically sounding, back then positively): " Allerdings reichen die uns überlieferten romanischen Formen nicht aus, der so verwickelten Aufgaben der Neuzeit mit ihnen allein Herr zu werden, war doch auch im Mittelalter bei der weiter vorschreitenden gesellschaftlichen Entwicklung aus der romanischen Kunst die gotische entstanden. Daher sucht Schwechten die gotische Vielgestaltigkeit seiner romanischen Formengebung dienstbar zu machen.“ (The rich romanesque forms as they have come to us, seem not sufficient to fulfil all those tasks of today’s movement. In the Middle Ages, in need to enlarge due to the society’s development, the romanesque  blent into the gothic art. This is why Schwechten seeks to let gothic multi-creativity serve his basically romanesque concept of design).
 The director of the Hohenzollern Museum and author of numerous articles now describes Prussian castles as "works of art". Paul Seidel was entrusted with the finding of interior decorations and of furnishings. 

 

I would like to start my description with one of the three staircases, with the exceptionally magnificent Audienztreppe.
The kind of lighting used here, - three chandeliers in ring shape, hanging one behind the other, has only been made possible by the electrification as otherwise open candlelight could never have been used due to the draft usually so disturbing in every stairwell. 

The chandeliers in the Corridor of the Crests (Wappenkorridor) came from Kammer & Taubert, artist blacksmith from Erfurt. They were probably designed by Prof. Carl Taubert (wood sculptor at the Museum of Applied Arts, who designed a large part of the furniture and many light fixtures for the Castle). The ring shape of the chandeliers is again taken from Romanesque period. 

A blaker with the Prussian Eagle was designed by Otto Rohloff (1863-1919), also professor at the Educational Department. The sculptor and metal engraver was given numerous commissions by the Emperor.

All the way to the adjoining main Hall, the Thronsaal, was designed after a baroque castle. In its dimensions the Hall overruled the largest hall of the Berlin Castle, the "White Hall", by 100 m2. Architectural model for it was the Hagia Sophia in Constantinople. Three huge ring-shaped chandeliers, each of three rings and one above the other, as well as 12 seven-branched wall lamps of bronze lit this room. Producer of these bronze light fixtures was the Berlin Company of Frost & Sons. The only other known products of this company are the chandeliers in the New Town Hall of Reichenberg (Liberec), in the Czech Republic.

The romanesque ring chandeliers of Aachen, Hildesheim and Comburg, symbolising the Heavenly Jerusalem with its twelve gates, served as a model for the shape of the chandeliers in the Hall in Posen and their decoration with jewels, as to special demand of Wilhelm IInd. Let me cite the Holy Bible, St John, Revelations: "The city had no need of the sun, nor of the moon as to shine in it. For the glory shall walk in the light of it and the kings of the earth do bring their glory and honour into it."

In the official guide to the Castle of 1913, it is specifically mentioned, how the gorgeous lighting lets the wall mosaics glow golden  in the evenings. A more symbolic way of design can hardly be imagined. The further iconography of the interior of this Hall glorifies the Emperor as heir of the Karolin’s and of the Holy Roman Empire of German Nation, as well as the divine quality of this power.

The Wisbysaal got its name from the hanging brass chandeliers, which the Emperor had seen during his Northland trips of 1908 to the Swedish Visby, Gotland cathedral.
 These had been copied directly on site, a fact visible from a substantial correspondence between the Imperial Court and Gotland, in which the Imperial Court Marshal Count Eulenburg gives good evidence of it. The Arvid Böhlmark lamp factory in Stockholm was commissioned with the production. Part of the costs for these fixtures were settled by Court Intendant Carl Lindgren, in gratitude for the Emperor's interest in the ecclesiastical Gotland arts. 
Also the Corridors are adorned with elaborate lighting, full of historic relevance.

In the Korridor der Kaiserin flat lamps in shape of standards were hung, made of steel and adorned with eagles . The bulbs here function in the way of textile tassels. Producer again was Kammer & Taubert from Erfurt. 

The Korridor des Kaisers were lit exclusively with torches. In the guide to the Castle of 1911 we read: "The electric fixtures also should remind us of the old days. They have the shape of torches, as were carried in front of guests and which were then set into iron rings along the wall." A pair of such torches is mounted together on one bracket. 
 
These also were completed to the Emperor's wishes. The Berlin-based company Spinn & Sons produced 35 double torches for the Kaisertreppe at a price of RM 275. - per piece.
.  Unfortunately no illustrations of these exist. Other light fixtures we know produced by the company hardly match the style of those existing in Posen. Spinn & Sons still existed in East Berlin after the War and partly furnished the Government Castle of Niederschönhausen with chandeliers coming from Bohemia.

Electric double torches also hang along the walls of "Remter" des Kaisers, following the example of the "Remter" in East Prussian Marienburg.

Wilhelm IInd's favorite room was the Nordisches Zimmer. An octagonal ring-chandelier, which light bulbs were part of the artistic design hung there.
  In addition to that, here’s a citation from the Journal of Lighting, Heating and Air conditioning, Berlin 1910:

"Only in recent times, new shapes of hanging devices have come to use. The down hanging power cables of electric chandeliers, can well be used to visualize the effect of hanging objects. Similar to ripe fruit, electric bulbs are mounted to the fixtures.
 

The  Empfangszimmer des Kaisers had its very special chandelier decoration described in the guide to the Castle of 1913 as follows: "The electric chandelier is executed as a crown of presentation, similar to those the Langobard kings had placed over the altar in churches.
 The design is again by Otto Rohloff. Crowns of presentation, during the Middle Ages, were signs of deep awe and honour for a sacred place and sign of thanks towards the protective power. Otherwise it must be seen that the shape of a crown went well with the present fashion of the light fixtures of that time.” 

The Schlosskapelle did not have hanging devices, but had elaborately ornamented candlesticks, set with jewels, following medieval examples.

Practically nothing of the original interiors still exists. The location of lighting produced for the Castle has not yet been researched.

Emperor Wilhelm II personally experienced little of this pomp, as there were only two official visits before the outbreak of World War I.

After the end of the German reign, from December 1918 on and during the period between the wars, the Castle was residence of the President of the Polish Republic, part of the rooms were used by Poznan University. 

After the invasion of German forces on September 12th 1939, the Gauleiter for now "Reichsgau Warteland" settled in the Castle. Shortly after, the decision on refurbishing it to a "Führer- und Gauleiterresidenz" was made. During the extensive alterations of the interiors, Hitler had everything removed that might have positioned him as continuing Christian Middle Ages, but also all that might bring him in contact to the personality of Wilhelm II.
 It was under architect Franz Böhmer, commissioned by Albert Speer, that the ancient myths were recalled to life, so as to serve the staging of power of the Nazi Regime. Light, once again, plays a very special role. Had it been the rich, relevant examples for each of the fixtures, now it is the staging of light-effects. We must only remember the domes of light which Albert Speer made possible using the anti-aircraft searchlights. With the beginning of the war, this spectacle became deathly reality, when the same searchlights were made to function in the war. 

Also invisible indirect light sources were introduced in the designs and the meaning of light in the sense of the Aufklärung and of enlightment was instrumentalized. This may serve as small Excursus, to show the great influence of light, especially in that tyranny.

The staging possible with light is to be seen in the example of the Neue Reichskanzlei in Berlin. The passages and galleries are lit by wallbrackets in form of tied up torches. In the Empfangssaal, huge chandeliers, giving enormous light density, were to act as overpowering and intimidating.

The chandeliers were so important, that in the planning stage, original scale-models had to be produced, one of which has still survived to this day and was to be seen in the exhibition "Jewels of Light" at the Museum Bellerive in Zürich. 

Sonja Günther, in her Publication "Design der Macht: Möbel für Repräsentanten des „Dritten Reiches“: „Auffallend waren zwei riesengroße Kristalllüster, die tief in den Raum hingen und deren Licht von über hundert elektrischen Kerzen sich in ihren gläsernen Zapfen spiegelte.“ Und „...Gleißendes Licht durch zwei Lüster mit je über hundert elektrischen Kerzen schüchterte Besucher ein.“ (Design of Power, Furnishings for those representing the Third Reich": "Two huge crystal chandeliers were so visible, hanging low in the room, and the light of over 100 candles which was reflected in their crystal cones. And: "stunning light, coming from two chandeliers with more than 100 electric candles each, intimidated the visitor 
 

Usually design and execution of the new light fixtures in Hitler's buildings were in the hands of the renowned Vienna J. & L. Lobmeyr Company. Their former owner, Hans Harald Rath, also in those days, had the option, like many others participating in the construction of Hitler's buildings, either to accept the order or to become critic and thus martyr.
 On the other hand, a positive side effect was, that all those engaged in the building industry, did not have to go to war and also that materials used for the production of furniture and chandeliers, or for similar, were then not available for the war machinery. 

In the case of the reconstruction, the so called "Führertreppenhaus" (Führer staircase) was installed in the area of the former Castle Chapel (the left photo picturing the upper level (2003(, and on the right the view from downstairs (1944(). The way was staged perfectly by the light effects, leading to the “Sanctuary” - Hitler’s office – upstairs.  
The basic shapes of the light fixtures in the Castle are similar but appear in many variations, in particular regarding the sizes and materials used. Again with the hanging chandeliers, the ring shaped is preferred, as with the former Emperor. As wall lights, we find the torches inside strongly reflecting bowls of cut lead crystal. The lamps to a large extent are still in situ. The largest surprise was when we heard from the present owners of the Lobmeyr Company, that not only a large number of documents, such as letters, invoices, shop-drawings and design sketches can be found in the company's archives, but also some actual parts of the lamps, such as formally produced. 15 torches with a low glass bowl had been ordered with J. & L. Lobmeyr and made for "Vorraum Halle (ante room) 243/44". Due to the required speed during the adaption of the Castle, a model developed and executed by architects Franz Böhmer and Georg Petrich back in 1940 for the Garden Hall of the Foreign Office in Berlin was used. Only the glass bowls received a special sanding in Posen.

Torch brackets with bowl shaped lamp shades had been used before, in the Old- and the New Reichskanzlei in different versions and now again in the Castle as wall brackets and also as elements of the hanging chandeliers. They belonged to the iconographic repertoire of Nazi ideology and acted as symbols, like a lighthouse that offers direction. Those torches, in all the corridors of the Castle are also to be understood as part of Hitler's huge pretence-act of being the field marshal, in such a way as Sonja Günther formulates in her book "Design der Macht".

Further “sconces … with ten electric light bulbs in elaborately cut lead crystal bowls…” were produced at a price of RM 2.800.- each, as seen on the invoice of July 25th 1944 for "room 158" and for the "Staircase F" ("Führertreppenhaus). Within this staircase, today we find sconces of the same shape, but of a slightly changed execution. These fixtures are also part of the lighting arrangements, serving the path right up to the "Führer" and meant to produce awe and a solemnly feeling for visitors.

The production of the elaborately cut glass bowls for all the fixtures, Lobmeyr commissioned to Zahn & Göpfert Co. with their glass factory Blumenbach (Kvetna Hut) in Southern Moravia. The price for one single bowl was RM 121,60. For these only the principle of very highest quality was valid. The clever cutting of highly polished lead crystal exaggerated the reflections of the light and of its upwardly directed beams. 

This drawing is an example of a monumental chandelier measuring in diameter 250cm and with a height of 450cm (with the chains). This specific model was never produced. It is a ring chandelier in two levels. The model it was build after, a torch-chandelier, can be seen suggestively.For these lightings the shape is rather taken from the forms treasured by the Nazis, than from the former ring chandeliers of Romanesque churches. Apart from the symbol of eternity, the circle - construed as wreath or crown - can also be interpreted as a sign of victory and power. This pathos still enforced by the size of the fixtures was to produce further intimidation and distance. All this strengthens the effect of the ideology of the "Thousand Year Reich".

The conversion of the Castle had not yet been accomplished when, in January 1945, the Soviet Army marched in. It is hardly damaged, only the peak of the great tower literally broke off.
This is the only "Führerresidenz" in the style of Nazi architecture that survived. Used as cultural centre ZAMEK (Polish: castle, (http://www.zamek.poznan.pl)(, nowadays a positive spirit has entered the edifice where negative history was before. 
Resumé   

It always seems the same: Light and the bearers of light act as a the ultimate representation of power, due to their symbolic meaning, preciousness and function to light up and to enlighten.

Light and Power belong together; light is power too. The methods reached a new peak under Emperor Wilhelm IInd with the introduction of new technical possibilities. In the Nazi period I would even name this brutal and inhuman. 

Here a final quote from Sonja Günther’s "Design der Macht": "Eine Ausnahme

machten die Riesenlüster im Groß Empfangssaal der Neuen Reichskanzlei, die wie

die hohen Fenster und Stuhllehnen durch ihre Größe den Untertanen zur Demut

zwingen sollte. … Wandleuchten formten eine obere Zone der Helle, gaben kaltes

Licht, durch Mattglas gefiltert und vollendeten die Szene von Macht, Gewalt und

Tod. [An exception were the huge chandeliers in the large Reception Hall of the "Neue Reichskanzlei", which were to force subordinates towards humbleness, like these high windows and high chairbacks, which worked in exaggeration of size. …The wall lights, producing an upward zone of brightness, gave cold light, filtered by matt glasses and so completed the scene of power, force and of death].”
 

Conclusion 

Is it still the quantity of light, with which one believes to show off luxury?  Or should there really be a new movement due to present developments, backing on extreme light pollution in our environments alongside excentric consumption of energy, preferring less light over more atmosphere?
 

Photographs kindly offered by Janusz Pazder, Centrum Kultury Zamek Poznan and J. & L. Lobmeyr Co. Vienna.
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